Wind farm noise amplitude modulation and its acceptability for sleep



Duc Phuc Nguyen College of Science and Engineering Flinders University

A thesis submitted for the degree of Master of Engineering Adelaide, October 2019

Dedicated to

My parents and Cham

Acknowledgements

Personal

First and foremost, I want to thank my supervisor, Kristy Hansen. It has been an honour to be her student. She has taught me, both consciously and subconsciously, how good environmental acoustics is done. I appreciate all her contributions of time, ideas and patience to make my study experience productive and stimulating. The joy and enthusiasm that she has for her research was contagious and motivational for me, even during the tough times in my study. I am also thankful for the excellent example she has provided as a female acoustician and lecturer.

The members of the Wind Farm Noise group have contributed immensely to my personal and professional time at Flinders University. I would like to thank Professor Peter Catcheside, Dr. Branko Zajamsek, Dr. Gorica Micic, Bastien, Claire, Mahmoud, Felix and Tessa. The group has been a source of friendship as well as good advice and collaboration.

Last, I would like to thank my family for all their love and encouragement. I thank my parents who raised me with a love of science, and who supported me in all my pursuits. Thank you.

Institutional

I gratefully acknowledge the Australia Award Scholarship that provided me with a great opportunity to come here and that made my study work possible. I also gratefully the acknowledge financial support from the Australian Research Council, Projects DP120102185 and DE180100022 and fellowship FT120100510, and the National Health and Medical Research Council, Project 1113571.

Copyediting and proofreading

Capstone Editing provided copyediting and proofreading services, according to the guidelines laid out in the university-endorsed national 'Guidelines for Editing Research Theses'.

Abstract

Wind farm noise amplitude modulation (AM) is defined as a periodic variation in the amplitude of the noise which occurs at the blade-pass frequency, which is a unique characteristic of the noise. This phenomenon is a source of complaints due to its potential to cause annoyance and sleep disturbance. Here, to analyse AM, I proposed several modifications to the algorithm developed by the UK Institute of Acoustics, which was developed only recently and is one of the best algorithms available to date. I then used the modified algorithm to characterise the AM measured at several locations near South Australian wind farms. To prepare stimuli for laboratory experiments, I used the measured AM characteristics to synthesise AM stimuli. During the experiment, AM was also investigated in terms of its level of acceptability for sleep. I found that AM is audible both outdoors and indoors up to several kilometres from a wind farm. Also, AM characteristics depend on meteorological and operating conditions. The listening test results showed that synthesised AM stimuli are indistinguishable from measured AM samples, indicating that using synthesised noise for laboratory studies is suitable. Furthermore, I found that an increase in the variation in the amplitude of the noise (AM depth) at a high level of a tone (tonal audibility) is associated with lower acceptability for sleep for noise-sensitive individuals. Further research is needed to understand the seasonal and diurnal characteristics of AM and its effect on annoyance and sleep disturbance.

Contents

\mathbf{Li}	st of	Figures	vii
\mathbf{Li}	st of	Abbreviations	viii
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Amplitude modulation of wind farm noise	1
	1.2	Motivation	2
	1.3	Aims	3
	1.4	Thesis outline	3
	1.5	Contributions	4
	1.6	Publications	5
2	Rev	iew of literature	7
	2.1	Detection and quantification of AM	.7
	$\frac{-12}{2.2}$	Long-term studies of AM	9
	2.3	Method for synthesising AM	9
	$\frac{2.3}{2.4}$	Annovance and potential sleep disturbance	11
	2.5	Summary	12
3	Cha	racterisation of wind farm noise amplitude modulation	14
0	3.1	Introduction	15
	3.2	Data collection	15
	0.2	3.2.1 Measurement locations	15
		3.2.2 Instrumentation and measurement set-up	17
	33	Signal analysis technique	19
	0.0	3.3.1 AM detection algorithm	19
		3.3.2 Validation of AM detection algorithm	20
	34	Results	$\frac{20}{22}$
	0.1	3.4.1 AM characteristics at different wind farms	22
		3.4.2 Prevalence and depth of wind farm AM	22
		3.4.3 Belationship between distance from the wind farm and AM	$\frac{20}{24}$
		3.4.4 Wind farm operating conditions and AM	2 4 25
			20
	3.5	Discussion	27

4	Syı	nthesis and evaluation of amplitude modulation stimuli	30
	4.1	Introduction	31
	4.2	AM synthesis methods	31
		4.2.1 Background noise component	31
		4.2.2 Amplitude modulation component	32
		4.2.3 Synthesis results	33
	4.3	Evaluation of the perceptual quality of the stimuli	34
		$4.3.1 \text{Participants} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	34
		4.3.2 Testing room and instrumentation	34
		4.3.3 Experimental design	35
		4.3.4 Statistical analysis	36
		4.3.5 ABX test results	36
		4.3.6 Confidence and similarity rating results	38
	4.4	Discussion	39
	4.5	Summary	40
	T (1)		
5	Eff	ects of amplitude modulated noise on the acceptable noise level	
	C		·
	for	sleep	41
	for 5.1	sleep Introduction	41 42
L	for 5.1 5.2	sleep Introduction Material and methods	41 42 42
	for 5.1 5.2	sleep Introduction Material and methods 5.2.1 Participants	41 42 42 42
	for 5.1 5.2	sleep Introduction Material and methods 5.2.1 Participants 5.2.2 Testing room, instrumentation and stimuli	41 42 42 42 42 42
	for 5.1 5.2	sleep Introduction Material and methods 5.2.1 Participants 5.2.2 Testing room, instrumentation and stimuli 5.2.3 Experimental procedure	41 42 42 42 42 42 43
	for 5.1 5.2 5.3	sleep Introduction Material and methods 5.2.1 Participants 5.2.2 Testing room, instrumentation and stimuli 5.2.3 Experimental procedure Image: Results	41 42 42 42 42 42 43 44
	for 5.1 5.2	sleep Introduction Material and methods 5.2.1 Participants 5.2.2 Testing room, instrumentation and stimuli 5.2.3 Experimental procedure Salts 5.3.1 Adjustment time for tonal AM acceptability for sleep	41 42 42 42 42 42 43 44 44
	for 5.1 5.2 5.3	sleep Introduction Material and methods 5.2.1 Participants 5.2.2 Testing room, instrumentation and stimuli 5.2.3 Experimental procedure S.3.1 Adjustment time for tonal AM acceptability for sleep 5.3.2 Noise sensitivity score	41 42 42 42 42 43 44 44 45
	for 5.1 5.2	sleep Introduction Material and methods 5.2.1 Participants 5.2.2 Testing room, instrumentation and stimuli 5.2.3 Experimental procedure S.3.1 Adjustment time for tonal AM acceptability for sleep 5.3.2 Noise sensitivity score 5.3.3 Sleep acceptability of tonal AM	41 42 42 42 42 43 44 44 45 46
	for 5.1 5.2 5.3	sleep Introduction Material and methods 5.2.1 Participants 5.2.2 Testing room, instrumentation and stimuli 5.2.3 Experimental procedure S.3.1 Adjustment time for tonal AM acceptability for sleep 5.3.2 Noise sensitivity score 5.3.3 Sleep acceptability of tonal AM Discussion	41 42 42 42 42 43 44 44 45 46 47
	for 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5	sleep Introduction Material and methods 5.2.1 Participants 5.2.2 Testing room, instrumentation and stimuli 5.2.3 Experimental procedure S.3.1 Adjustment time for tonal AM acceptability for sleep 5.3.2 Noise sensitivity score Summary	$\begin{array}{c} 41 \\ 42 \\ 42 \\ 42 \\ 42 \\ 43 \\ 44 \\ 45 \\ 46 \\ 47 \\ 48 \end{array}$
6	for 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5	sleep Introduction Material and methods 5.2.1 Participants 5.2.2 Testing room, instrumentation and stimuli 5.2.3 Experimental procedure S.3.1 Adjustment time for tonal AM acceptability for sleep 5.3.2 Noise sensitivity score 5.3.3 Sleep acceptability of tonal AM Discussion Summary	41 42 42 42 42 43 44 44 45 46 47 48
6	for 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.3 5.4 5.5	sleep Introduction Material and methods 5.2.1 Participants 5.2.2 Testing room, instrumentation and stimuli 5.2.3 Experimental procedure S.3.1 Adjustment time for tonal AM acceptability for sleep 5.3.2 Noise sensitivity score 5.3.3 Sleep acceptability of tonal AM Discussion Summary nclusions and recommendations for future work	 41 42 42 42 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49

References

52

List of Figures

1.1	Amplitude modulation of wind farm noise.	2
1.2	Illustration of the structure of the thesis.	4
3.1	Measurement locations at two wind farms.	16
3.2	Measurements at Wind farm 2.	17
3.3	Typical outdoor measurement set-up	18
3.4	Method for detecting and quantifying AM	20
3.5	Validation of AM detection algorithm.	21
3.6	A comparison between AM depth for Wind farm 1 and 2	22
3.7	Relationship between AM occurrence and wind farm power output	
	capacity.	23
3.8	Prevalence of AM at wind farm 2	24
3.9	Relationship between distance and AM	25
3.10	Relationship between AM occurrences and wind farm power output	
	and hub-height wind speed.	26
3.11	Relationship between the AM depth and wind farm power output & $_$	
	hub-height wind speed.	26
3.12	Fumber and percentage of time that AM was present as a function	
	of time of day.	27
4.1	Method for synthesising AM stimuli.	32
4.2	Comparison between synthesised and measured noise	34
4.3	Stimuli and experimental design.	35
4.4	ABX and binomial tests results.	37
4.5	Signal detection theory results.	38
4.6	Confidence and similarity rating results.	39
5.1	Experimental set-up.	44
5.2	Adjustment time for tonal AM acceptability for sleep.	45
5.3	Noise sensitivity scores.	46
5.4	Sleep acceptability of a tonal AM for noise-insensitive participants.	47
5.5	Sleep acceptability of a tonal AM for noise-sensitive participants.	47

List of Abbreviations

\mathbf{AM}	Amplitude modulation of wind farm noise
WFN	Wind farm/turbine noise.
ΙΟΑ	The Institute of Acoustics, UK
BGN	Background noise
IFFT	Inverse fast Fourier transform
\mathbf{SPL}	Sound pressure level
LFN	Low frequency noise
dBA	A-weighted sound pressure level
BPF	Blade-pass frequency
ROC	Receiver operating characteristic
AUC	Area under the curve
AISH	The Adelaide Institute for Sleep Health
SDT	Signal detection theory

You don't have to be great to start; but you have to start to be great.

– Zig Ziglar



Contents

1.1	Amplitude modulation of wind farm noise		•	•	•		•	•	•	1
1.2	Motivation	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	2
1.3	Aims	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	3
1.4	Thesis outline	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	3
1.5	Contributions	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	4
1.6	Publications	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	5

1.1 Amplitude modulation of wind farm noise

Amplitude modulation (AM) is defined as a periodic variation in the amplitude of the noise which occurs at the blade-pass frequency in the case of wind turbines. 1. 2. The frequency content in the noise signals depend on the distance from a wind farm to the receiver. For example, broadband AM occurs at mid- to high frequencies (usually higher than 400 Hz) and it manifests as a 'swishing' noise 2. This type of AM is apparent close to a turbine. The second type of AM occurs at the low frequency range and is described as a "thumping" noise. It is referred to as other AM or enhanced AM and can be heard from wind farms across. 3 (see Figure 1.1).

Low frequency AM has two types: one in which a single – frequency sound is modulated (hereafter termed tonal AM) and another in which broadband sound



Figure 1.1: The AM of wind farm noise. Wind farms generate noise which shows a periodic variation in amplitude at the blade-pass frequency. Two types of AM can be heard at different distances from a wind farm.

is modulated by one or several frequencies related to the turbine blade – pass frequency. For the broadband AM sound, the generation mechanism could be transient stall which can be reduced by blade pitch control [3], [4]. However, for the low-frequency tonal AM, the mechanism of this phenomenon has not yet been addressed sufficiently in the literature.

AM is a unique characteristic of wind farm noise (WFN), which has contributed to annoyance 5–10, and it has been hypothesised to impact sleep disturbance [11]. However, clear evidence of whether wind farm noise is associated with sleep disturbance and health effects is still not established. Adequate data regarding the physiological effects of AM are presently lacking.

1.2 Motivation

During a study by the South Australian Environmental Protection Agency in 2013, at least 14 (out of 15) residents living at various distances of up to 8 km complained of 'thumping' and/or 'rumbling'. Their responses were documented in noise diaries that were collected over several weeks and were provided to our research group. While many people believe that the residents complain about the wind farm because they are unhappy with the lack of financial compensation

they receive compared to their neighbours who are hosting the turbines, others believe that the noise can propagate several kilometres away from a wind farm. The influence of wind farm noise on humans is an ongoing debate, and it is not possible to usefully take part in this debate without having a detailed understanding of the noise. These factors motivated me to conduct this Master's project to contribute to the understanding of wind farm noise.

1.3 Aims

The overall aim of this master's thesis is to determine how often wind farms generate the low-frequency tonal AM and whether it affects humans through annoyance and/or sleep disturbance. This will be done through addressing the following objectives:

- 1. to detect, quantify and characterise the low-frequency tonal AM of wind farm noise measured at several locations near South Australian wind farms
- 2. to evaluate the quality of synthesised AM stimuli in comparison to measured noise in order to verify that the synthesised signals are suitable for laboratory experiments
- 3. to investigate the effects of low-frequency tonal AM on the acceptability of the noise for sleep via laboratory listening tests.

1.4 Thesis outline

The main text consists of the present introductory chapter followed by five other chapters that systematically present the results of field data analyses and laboratory experiments (see Figure 1.2).

Chapter 2 reviews previous work on the detection and quantification of AM, long-term studies of AM, AM synthesis methods and its potential to cause annoyance and sleep disturbance. Chapter 3 presents the characteristics of wind farm noise AM measured at 10 residences at two wind farms in South Australia. This chapter



Figure 1.2: Illustration of the structure of the thesis. Chapter 2 reviews previous work on AM, including field and laboratory studies. Chapter 3 presents field study results that are used as input information for Chapter 4. The results from Chapter 4 are used for Chapter 5, which studies the effects of AM on the acceptability for sleep. Chapter 6 summarises all key findings of the thesis.

addresses the first aim of this study. Chapter 4 describes the methods for synthesising AM and evaluates the quality of the synthesised stimuli. The second aim of the project is addressed in Chapter 4. In Chapter 5, the synthesised stimuli in Chapter 4 are used to investigate the effects of AM on the acceptability for sleep, which addresses the third aim of the project.

1.5 Contributions

This study provides important knowledge regarding AM and its acceptability for sleep. Several noteworthy contributions include:

- proposing modifications to the IOA 'Reference method' for analysing the amplitude modulation of wind farm noise that show superior performance compared to the original method for noise data measured at distances greater than 1 km
- 2. characterising AM measured at distances greater than 1 km for the first time.

- 3. evaluating the quality of the synthesised stimuli that are used for laboratory experiments; the synthesised AM stimuli are to faithfully represent the real noise
- 4. proposing a new methodology and testing the acceptability of AM for sleep, in which higher modulation depth and tonal audibility are shown to produce higher annoyance and sleep disturbance.

1.6 Publications

During this master's project, I published and submitted the following publications: Journal papers

- Nguyen DP , Hansen K, Zajamsek B. Human perception of wind farm vibration. Journal of Low Frequency Noise, Vibration and Active Control (Online 2019 Apr 2). (Q1, IF = 1.49, SJR:11/88). DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1461348419837115 [Published]
- Hansen KL, Nguyen DP, Zajamšek B, Catcheside P, Hansen CH. Prevalence of wind farm amplitude modulation at long-range residential locations. *Journal* of Sound and Vibration. Volume 455, 1 September 2019, Pages 136-149 (Online 2019 May 13). (Q1, IF = 3.123, SJR:2/88). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jsv.2019.05.008 [Published]
- Nguyen DP, Hansen K, Zajamsek B, Catcheside P. Evaluation of wind farm noise amplitude modulation synthesis quality. *Applied Acoustics* . 09/2019 (Q1) [Under review]

Peer-reviewed conference papers

 Nguyen DP, Hansen K, Zajamsek B. Characterizing tonal amplitude modulation of wind farm noise. In Proceedings of ACOUSTICS 2018 Nov (Vol. 7, No.

9). https://www.acoustics.asn.au/conference_proceedings/AAS2018/
papers/p101.pdf [Published]

- Hansen K, Nguyen DP, Zajamsek B, Micic G, Catcheside P. Pilot study on perceived sleep acceptability of low-frequency, amplitude modulated tonal noise. 23rd International Congress on Acoustics, Aachen, Germany, 2019 September 8-13. http://pub.dega-akustik.de/ICA2019/data/articles/ 000499.pdf [Published]
- Nguyen DP, Hansen K, Zajamsek B. Wind farm infrasound detectability and its effects on the perception of wind farm noise amplitude modulation. In Proceedings of ACOUSTICS 2019 Nov 9. [Accepted]
- Hansen K, Nguyen DP, Lechat B, Zajamsek B, Alamir M, Micic G and Catcheside P. Comparison between annoyance due to traffic noise and wind farm noise in a non-focused listening test. In Proceedings of ACOUSTICS 2019 Nov 9. [Accepted]

The only way to do great work is to love what you do.

— Steve Jobs

2 Review of literature

Contents

2.1	Detection and quantification of AM	7
2.2	Long-term studies of AM	9
2.3	Method for synthesising AM	9
2.4	Annoyance and potential sleep disturbance	11
2.5	Summary	12

2.1 Detection and quantification of AM

Listening to audio files by experts is an appropriate approach for AM detection. However, this approach is a subjective and slow process when applied to the large data sets, and thus several automated methods of AM detection have been developed to speed up this process. They can be separated into three categories: time-domain [12, [13], frequency-domain [6, [14] and 'hybrid' methods which combine time and frequency domain methods [2, 9, [15], [16]. The time-domain methods are easy to implement and require minimal post-processing. They are convenient, even for individuals with no acoustics training. However, these methods do not perform well on data that are contaminated by extraneous noise. Compared with time-domain methods, frequency-domain methods can work well in cases where data are highly contaminated by other noise sources; however, there are some disadvantages of these methods. These methods are slightly more complex to implement and require signal-processing skills. Also, due to the averaging process associated with the frequency-domain methods, the resulting spectra contain only frequencies at which periodic amplitude variation (AM) occurs; it is thus not possible to detect random amplitude variations using these methods. Finally, the value of AM depth, or degree of AM, obtained using these methods is not an intuitive measure of AM. To overcome these drawbacks of time- and frequency- domain methods, hybrid methods have been developed, which have advantages such as reliably identifying modulation at the blade-pass frequency in the frequency domain and maintaining a realistic measure of the modulation depth through analysis in the time domain. These methods can be used to batch process data, but the coding can be challenging. Since hybrid methods focus on modulation at the blade-pass frequency and harmonics [2], these methods cannot detect random amplitude variation.

However, the performance of many AM detection algorithms has not been evaluated rigorously. Owing to a lack of gold-standard data sets, these current AM detection algorithms are only validated based on visual inspection, which does not reveal their performance in terms of correct detection of AM and correct rejection of non AM. Hansen et al. [1] suggested that listening to audio files is an appropriate approach to establish a gold-standard data sets for validating AM detection algorithms. Furthermore, many of these AM detection methods were developed with the intention of identifying swishing noise, which is amplitude-modulated, mid- to high-frequency noise. AM identification becomes a more difficult task for low-frequency noise because the AM signals are very weak and often contaminated by other noise sources. Although there has been some testing of automated AM detection in swishing noise, the performance of the most commonly used methods in low-frequency AM is questionable [17]. Therefore, several modifications are needed to apply these methods for detecting low-frequency AM.

2.2 Long-term studies of AM

Although wind farm AM is gradually becoming a source of interest in wind farm noise studies, information regarding long-term studies of this phenomenon is rare in the literature. To evaluate the effects of various meteorological conditions on AM, Larsson et al. [18] measured acoustical and meteorological data continuously for two years in two areas in Sweden. The authors concluded that AM occurs more often under certain meteorological conditions, such as stable atmospheric conditions. AM was also observed between 20% and 30% of the operational time, which depended on the distance from wind farms. To evaluate the effects of wind speed and wind direction on AM, Paulraj et al. 19 demonstrated that although the AM depth depends on wind direction, there is no relationship between AM depth and wind speed. AM most often occurs during winter (October-December in Finland). The noise and weather data were collected continuously for one year at 1.1 km from the nearest wind turbine. Conrady [20] recently analysed longterm data measured in Sweden and found that AM occurrence depends on both annual and diurnal variations. Consistent with previous studies 3, 18, the author found that AM occurs more often during the night and early morning than during noon and the early afternoon. AM was most often observed in November and January, and less often during spring.

However, previous studies focus on broadband AM which occurs at mid- to high frequencies. The prevalence and characteristics of low-frequency tonal AM, which usually occurs at distances greater than 1 km from wind farms is still lacking. This information is relevant in the context of Australian wind farm noise, where residents usually live more than 1 km from wind farms. The relationship between distance and AM prevalence has also not been reported in the literature to date.

2.3 Method for synthesising AM

Measured data are usually contaminated by other noise sources, such as traffic noise, birds and agricultural activities 1. Synthesised WFN stimuli have been used

preferentially in laboratory experiments [8, 10, 21]. Using synthesised stimuli allows the experimenter to flexibly adjust the noise parameters, such as the modulation frequency and AM depth. Also, the characteristics of wind farm noise (i.e., tonality, low-frequency noise and AM) can be easily isolated for separate investigations.

There are some different methods for synthesising the AM of wind farm noise, and a common technique used to synthesise wind farm AM is to assume a combination of two components: the wind farm noise spectrum without AM, from here on termed background noise (BGN) and the amplitude modulated tone (AT), as follows [6–9]

$$WFN_{AM} = \beta \times (AT + \alpha \times BGN) \tag{2.1}$$

in which β is used for controlling the overall sound pressure level (SPL) and α is used for adjusting the level of background noise (masking noise).

For modelling environmental noise, the power-law $(1/f^{\gamma})$ is commonly used [22]. According to this law, the relationship between the log power spectral density and log frequency is linear. Pink-noise (1/f) is usually used for the synthesis of BGN in general because pink-noise is known to occur in a wide variety of natural physical environments [23]. The noise power-law was used by Yokoyama et al. [7] for synthesising typical WFN spectra, in which the authors used a linear spectrum with slopes of -4 dB/octave. Another approach was used by Lee et al. [6], in which the real noise sample was transformed to the frequency domain; a moving average filter was then applied to extract the general noise spectrum; the general spectrum was then multiplied with the white noise spectrum; and then the derived product was transformed to the time domain using an inverse fast Fourier transform (IFFT) to create the background noise sample.

There are two common approaches used to synthesise AT [1, 9]. These approaches only differ in their use of modulating signals. While the modulating signal used in the first method is a sine wave, a Gaussian wave is used in the latter. The use of a Gaussian wave allows accurate representation of the real characteristics of AT (i.e., asymmetric pulse shape), although the number of input parameters required for the synthesis is higher in comparison with the use of a sine wave.

Although the advantages of using synthesised stimuli in laboratory experiments have been highlighted in previous studies, information regarding the extent to which the synthesised noise represents real WFN is still lacking.

2.4 Annoyance and potential sleep disturbance

Previous listening tests have revealed that annoyance ratings depend on AM characteristics, such as AM depth or modulation frequency [5–10]. Although the increase in AM depth is consistently reported to increase annoyance ratings, there is no current consensus on the effect of modulation frequency [8] [9]. Listening tests using synthesised WFN based on measurements taken between 100 m and 1 km showed that low-frequency components less than 63 Hz have minimal effect on perceived loudness [24]. However, these results may not extrapolate to all WTN measured at distances greater than 1 km, where the spectrum is dominated by low-frequency energy.

Low-frequency amplitude modulated tonal noise can adversely affect performance for tasks involving an increased level of attention and awareness for a relatively long time of 30 minutes [25]. Also, low-frequency noise and the associated lower cortisol levels were found to be related to tiredness and negative mood [26]. Although the stimuli used in these studies were from other noise sources (i.e., low-frequency ventilation noise containing a tone in the 31.5 Hz 1/3-octave band and at a higher level than realistic wind farm noise), these studies are relevant in the study of wind farm noise, which can contain similar characteristics. For instance, AM observed at large distances from wind farms is also dominated by low-frequency, and contains low-frequencies tones modulated by the blade pass frequency.

Regarding the effects of WFN on sleep, a recent comprehensive review can be found in Micic et al. 11. The level of wind farm noise is relatively low compared to other types of environmental noise. However, differences in the characteristics of the noise (i.e., low-frequency content, tonality and AM) can result in annoyance or

2. Review of literature

sleep disturbance 27, 28. Current limits for wind farm noise are based on data from studies that focused on other environmental noise sources. Wind farm noise has unique and persistent characteristics which might make it more disturbing than other noise types, particularly at night-time in a normally quiet rural area.

However, clear evidence for whether wind farm noise is associated with sleep disturbance and health concerns is still not yet established. Also, data regarding the physiological effects of low-frequency noise (LFN) on humans are lacking up to now. Comprehensive future investigations are necessary to answer these unclear questions regarding wind farm noise.

2.5 Summary

Although several methods have been developed to detect and quantify AM, they were originally developed for analysing broadband AM. Also, these methods have not been validated properly. Therefore, the performance of these methods is questionable when they are applied to low-frequency tonal AM, which is the main focus of this study.

A few recent studies have characterised broadband AM measured at distances less than 1 km from wind farms, no studies characterised the low frequency tonal AM that usually occurs at distances greater than 1 km from a wind farm. Furthermore, most of previous studies were conducted in cold climate where have a long winter covered with ice. These conditions differ to Australia's climate, especially in South Australia where have a Mediterranean climate with mild wet winters and hot dry summers. The differences in climate can affect the propagation of the noise, and thus alter the AM characteristics.

Regarding laboratory experiments assessing the annoyance and sleep disturbance potential of AM, synthesised stimuli are commonly used. However, information regarding how well these synthesised stimuli represent the real noise is still lacking.

Finally, previous studies on human perception have also focused on broadband AM rather than tonal AM, although the latter has been more consistently measured at several wind farms in South Australia at distances greater than 1 km. It is also unknown whether acceptability for sleep is judged differently to annoyance or if wind farm noise containing AM may be more problematic for sleep than other noise types. The only thing greater than the power of the mind is the courage of the heart.

— John Forbes Nash

3 Characterisation of wind farm noise amplitude modulation

Contents

$3.1 \text{Introduction} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $
3.2 Data collection $\dots \dots \dots$
3.2.1 Measurement locations
3.2.2 Instrumentation and measurement set-up
3.3 Signal analysis technique
3.3.1 AM detection algorithm
3.3.2 Validation of AM detection algorithm
3.4 Results
3.4.1 AM characteristics at different wind farms
3.4.2 Prevalence and depth of wind farm AM $\ldots \ldots \ldots 23$
3.4.3 Relationship between distance from the wind farm and AM 24
3.4.4 Wind farm operating conditions and AM $\ldots \ldots \ldots 25$
$3.5 \text{Discussion} \dots \dots$
3.6 Summary 29

Part of the research contained in this chapter has been published:

- 1. Nguyen DP, Hansen K, Zajamsek B. Characterizing tonal amplitude modulation of wind farm noise. In Proceedings of ACOUSTICS 2018 Nov (Vol. 7, No.
 - 9). https://www.acoustics.asn.au/conference_proceedings/AAS2018/
 papers/p101.pdf [Published]

 Hansen KL, Nguyen DP, Zajamšek B, Catcheside P, Hansen CH. Prevalence of wind farm amplitude modulation at long-range residential locations. *Journal* of Sound and Vibration. Volume 455, 1 September 2019, Pages 136-149 (Online 2019 May 13). (Q1, IF = 3.123, SJR:2/88). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jsv.2019.05.008 [Published]

(The Statement of Contribution forms are provided in Appendix A)

3.1 Introduction

The aims of this chapter are twofold: 1) to compare AM characteristics (i.e., AM depth and AM prevalence at two wind farms) and 2) to investigate the relationship between AM characteristics and meteorological (i.e., wind speed), geophysical (distance to wind farm) and operating (wind farm power output) conditions. I begin with a description of field data collection and then describe the method for analysing the data. I then discuss the different characteristics of AM at two wind farms. Finally, I present the relationship between AM characteristics and the aforementioned factors which can affect AM characteristics. These characteristics have important implications for possible sleep disturbance from wind farm AM, which I investigate in Chapters 4 and 5.

3.2 Data collection

3.2.1 Measurement locations

To compare AM characteristics at two wind farms (see Section 3.4.1), measurements were carried out inside two dwellings located 3.1 km from the Hallett-V wind farm and 3.4 km from the Waterloo wind farm both of which are located in South Australia, as shown in Figure 3.1] I hereafter refer to Hallett-V and Waterloo wind farms as Wind farm 1 and Wind farm 2, respectively. The measurement was carried out for 26 days at Wind farm 1 and for 7 days at Wind farm 2. A summary of wind farm information is outlined in Table 3.1.



Figure 3.1: Measurement locations at two wind farms. **a**, Measurement at Hallett-V wind farm (Wind farm 1). **b**, Measurement at Waterloo wind farm (Wind farm 2). Only the nearest wind turbines to the dwelling are shown in a and b. **c**,**d**, Wind speed and wind direction during the measurement period at Wind farm 1 and 2, respectively.

	J J		
Name	Type of turbine	No. of turbines	Power capacity
Hallett-V (Wind farm 1)	Suzlon-2.1MW	25	$52.5 \ \mathrm{MW}$
Waterloo (Wind farm 2)	VestasV90-3.0MW	37	$110 \ \mathrm{MW}$

Table 3.1: A summary of wind farm information

To investigate the relationship between AM characteristics and meteorological, geophysical and operating conditions (see Section 3.4.2), both indoor and outdoor noise were measured at nine houses located between 1.3 and 8.8 km from the nearest wind turbine of Wind farm 2, as shown in Figure 3.2. Wind farm 2 is positioned along the top of a ridge, with the wind turbine hub height relative to the houses varying between 85 and 240 m.



Figure 3.2: Measurement at Wind farm 2. Nine residences located between 1.3 (H1) and 8.8 km (H9) from the nearest turbine. The location of the SODAR unit which was used for collecting meteorological data is also shown.

3.2.2 Instrumentation and measurement set-up

Outdoor noise was measured using the National Instruments 9234 data acquisition system at 10240 Hz sampling frequency. The outdoor microphone was a G.R.A.S type 40AZ with a 26CG preamplifier, which has a noise floor of 16 dB(A) and a flat frequency response down to 0.5 Hz. A typical outdoor measurement set-up is shown in Figure 3.3. The outdoor microphone was mounted at a height of 1.5 m and protected using a spherical secondary windscreen with a diameter of 450 mm. To minimise façade reflections and wind-induced vegetation noise, the outdoor microphone was positioned at least 20 m away from the dwelling and at least 10 m from surrounding vegetation.



Figure 3.3: Typical outdoor measurement set-up.

Indoor noise was measured using Bruel and Kajer LAN-XI Type 3050 data acquisition systems at 8192 kHz sampling frequency. The indoor microphone was a B&K type 4955, which has a noise floor of 6.5 dB(A) and a flat frequency response down to 6 Hz. The indoor microphone used in the analysis was mounted on a mini tripod and positioned approximately 100 mm from a room corner, at the intersection between two walls and the floor. The indoor measurements of all residences were taken in a room that faced the wind farm, and the windows were closed.

A total of 8716 and 8972 10-minute samples of outdoor and indoor data, respectively, were analysed in this study. The number of 10-minute samples taken outdoors and indoors at each residence is shown in Table 3.2.

Table 6.2. Rumber of to innute samples used for analysis.									
House	H1	H2	H3	H4	H5	H6	H7	H8	H9
Distance (km)	1.3	2.3	2.4	2.5	3.3	3.4	3.5	7.6	8.8
Outdoors	833	700	471	1548	1087	640	1659	999	848
Indoors	834	803	860	1561	1091	640	1344	989	850

Table 3.2: Number of 10-minute samples used for analysis

The hub-height wind speed data for the nearest wind turbine to each residence were available from the wind farm operator for all residences except H5, for which the hub height data were measured using a Fulcrum 3D SODAR. The SODAR was located on the same ridge-top as the wind turbines, as shown in Figure 3.2. The resolution of this device is ± 0.01 m/s, according to the manufacturer. Power output data for the wind farm were obtained from the Australian Energy Market Operator website 29 in five-minute averages. These data pertain to the entire wind farm and data for each individual wind turbine were not available.

3.3 Signal analysis technique

3.3.1 AM detection algorithm

To detect and quantify AM, I used the 'Reference method' which has been developed by the Institute of Acoustics (IOA) (hereafter referred to as the IOA method). The IOA method has been developed for detecting and quantifying broadband AM occurring at mid-to high- frequencies. To apply this method to our data, which contained the low-frequency tonal AM, several modifications to the IOA method were required, as shown in Figure 3.4 (hereafter referred to as the modified IOA method). These modifications included:

- 1. Instead of using a broad bandwidth, this study used 1/3-octave bandwidth.
- 2. The calculation of the equivalent sound pressure level (SPL) was based on unweighted rather than A-weighted time series data.
- 3. The prominence factor specified in the IOA method was reduced from four to three.
- The tonal audibility and normal-hearing threshold curve, as outlined in the IEC 61400-11 [30] and ISO 389-7 [31] respectively, were taken into account for quantifying AM.



Figure 3.4: Method for detecting and quantifying AM. The value in the boxes shaded green with dashed gray outlines are the original values used in the IOA method.

3.3.2 Validation of AM detection algorithm

To evaluate the performance of the modified IOA method, I compared the AM detection output of two methods (i.e., the original and the modified IOA method)

to a gold-standard data set. To construct the gold-standard data set, I visually inspected and classified 864 spectrogram segments which were randomly selected from the measured data. Figure 3.5a shows six segments, in which segments 1, 2 and 4 were classified as containing AM, while segments 3, 5 and 6 were classified as not containing AM. The segments containing AM are visible as horizontal lines in the spectrum, spaced vertically at the blade-pass frequency (BPF) of 0.8 Hz.

To compare the performance, a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis 32 was conducted. The ROC curve is a graphical representation of performance. To construct the ROC curve, as shown in Figure 3.5b, the outcome of the AM detection algorithms were compared with the gold standard data set. A confusion matrix 33, as shown in Figure 3.5c, was then created, showing true positive and false positive detection rates. This process was repeated for each prominence factor, resulting in a ROC curve.



Figure 3.5: Validation of AM detection algorithm. **a**, Generation of gold-standard data set using spectrogram. **b**, ROC curve as a graphical representation of performance. **c**, Confusion matrix.

The ROC curve has two advantages: 1) the area under the curve (AUC) shows the overall performance of the algorithms and 2) an optimal prominence factor is also found on the graph. Overall, the performance of the modified IOA method (AUC = 0.79) is better than the original IOA method (AUC = 0.71). I found that the optimal prominence factor is three which is closet to the top left corner, a perfect performance point (i.e., TPR = 1 and FPR = 0). Using a prominence factor of three also is balance between false and true positive rates.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 AM characteristics at different wind farms

The mean AM depth for indoor noise measured at Wind farm 1 is lower in comparison to Wind farm 2, as shown in Figure 3.6. Narrowband analysis also revealed that while AM measured at Wind farm 1 occurs at 110 Hz, AM measured at Wind farm 2 occurs at 46 Hz. Although the difference in distance from the nearest turbine to the measurement locations is small, there are other factors that may have caused the difference in the characteristics of AM such as turbine types, meteorological and operating conditions as well as wind farm layout and topography. For example, the measurement location for Wind farm 1 is mostly under crosswind and upwind conditions Figure 3.1. In contrast to the measurement at Wind farm 1, the noise data for Wind farm 2 were measured mainly under downwind conditions.



Figure 3.6: A comparison of AM depth between Wind farm 1 and 2.

To investigate the relationship between AM occurrence and wind farm percentage power capacity, I calculated the ratio between the number of samples containing AM and the total number of measured samples, as shown in Figure 3.7. While AM events were not dominant for any specific range of power output for the measured data at Wind farm 1, the peak percentage of AM events is observed when the wind farm percentage power capacity is approximately 40% for the measured data at Wind farm 2.



Wind farm power as percentage of capacity, %

Figure 3.7: Relationship between AM occurrence and wind farm power output capacity. The gray bars correspond to the total measured samples and the green bars illustrate the detected AM samples. The red curve is the ratio between the detected AM and the total measured samples.

3.4.2 Prevalence and depth of wind farm AM

To investigate the prevalence and depth of AM occurring at a wind farm, I analysed noise data measured at nine houses located within 1.3 and 8.8 km of Wind farm 2 (Figure 3.2). I found that the mean AM depth for indoor noise was higher than for outdoor noise (8.5 dB compared to 7.8 dB). However, in contrast to the AM depth, the numbers of AM occurrences for indoor noise (2394 events) were fewer than those for outdoor noise (2890 events); this was approximately 33% for outdoor noise compared to 27% for indoor noise (Figure 3.8a).

Expectedly, the modulation frequency was consistently 0.8 Hz (Figure 3.8b), which corresponds to the blade-pass frequency when the wind turbines are operating

at their nominal speed of 16.1 rpm. It is noted that to remain the natural characteristics of AM, the AM correction as shown in Section 3.3.1 and Figure 3.4 has not been applied to the AM depth and AM occurrence. However, in the next sections, the correction is applied to obtain a more realistic description of the AM characteristics, which takes into account the human hearing threshold.



Figure 3.8: AM analysis of outdoor (red) and indoor (blue) noise measured at nine different residences located near a wind farm. **a**, Histogram of AM depth with a binwidth of 1 dB; The AM correction has not been applied. **b**, Histogram of modulation frequency with a binwidth of 0.1 dB.

3.4.3 Relationship between distance from the wind farm and AM

To investigate how often AM occurs at different distances from the wind farm, I calculated the proportion of time that the AM was present at each house. The data were then categorised into three groups (i.e., 1-2, 2-4 and > 4 km) to reduce the variance between measurement locations. I found that a trend of reducing AM percentage with distance is apparent for both before and after the AM correction, as shown in Figure 3.9 Interestingly, the occurrence of AM after 2 km is reduced by a factor of two. Also, as expected, applying the AM correction results in reducing the number of AM occurrences. The results show that the outdoor and indoor AM are

still audible up to distances of 4 km for 24% (Figure 3.9a) and 16% (Figure 3.9b) of the time. At distances greater than 4 km, AM can be detected approximately 30% of the time outdoors and 20% indoors, although a large percentage of AM events are inaudible for a person with normal hearing.



Figure 3.9: Relationship between distance and AM. The green and red lines show data before and after applying the AM correction. **a**, Outdoor AM and **b**, Indoor AM.

3.4.4 Wind farm operating conditions and AM

Wind farm power output and meteorological conditions are important factors which influence the AM characteristics. To show the relationship between these factors and AM, I constructed histogram plots as shown in Figure 3.10. I found that AM occurs more often when the wind farm is operating below its maximum rated power. The peak percentage of AM events is observed when the wind farm percentage power capacity is approximately 40% (Figure 3.10a) and when the hubheight wind speed is around 10 m/s (Figure 3.10b). Applying the AM correction shifts the peak percentage of AM to a higher wind farm power capacity and wind speed range, although audible tonal AM is still dominant at the percentage power capacity between 40 and 85%.



Figure 3.10: Relationship between AM occurrences and wind farm power output and hub-height wind speed. The gray and green bars correspond to the total measured samples and detected AM samples, respectively. The right y-axis is used for the line graph.

To investigate any association between the AM depth and percentage power capacity and hub-height wind speed, both linear and second order polynomial regression fits were used, although the correlation is poor (max $R^2 = 0.24$) (Figure 3.11a and b). I further tried to improve the correlation by separating the data into 2 km-wide distance bins, although the large scatter in the data points indicate that the correlation is still not improved.



Figure 3.11: Relationship between the AM depth and wind farm power output and the hub-height wind speed.

Tonal AM occurs more often during the night-time (i.e., from 10 pm to 5 am), as shown in Figure 3.12. This finding is consistent with the findings of Van den Berg 3, and it supports the idea that AM is more likely to occur during stable conditions, which occur more often at night-time. Approximately 10% of

the total measurement time at night-time contained audible AM. However, at residences located up to 3.5 km from the wind farm, audible AM occurred 22% of the measurement time at night-time.



Figure 3.12: Number and percentage of time that AM was present as a function of time of day.

3.5 Discussion

The characteristics of AM depend on meteorological and wind farm operating conditions. To the best of my knowledge, this is the most comprehensive analysis of wind farm AM for noise measured at distances greater than 1 km from a wind farm.

Although the original IOA algorithm is a suitable AM detector (AUC = 0.71), using a prominence factor of four underestimates the number of AM occurrences. This is expected because the IOA method has been developed for detecting broadband AM, while this study aims to characterise low-frequency tonal AM. To improve the performance of the IOA algorithm, I made modifications to the algorithm. The modified IOA method has a better performance (AUC = 0.79) for our data, although this method could potentially be improved to reach higher AUC values.

Although analysis of a larger data set is needed, I found that the AM characteristics at Wind farm 1 differ from Wind farm 2. A possible explanation for the difference in AM depth could be attributed to the use of different sizes of turbines in the wind farms. While Wind farm 2 used Vestas V90-3MW turbines, which have a rotor diameter of 90 m, Wind farm 1 used Suzlon S88-2.1MW turbines with a rotor diameter of 88 m. As a result, the change in the atmospheric wind speed is less for each blade rotation of the wind turbines at Wind farm 1 compared to Wind farm 2. Also, there is a significant difference in the rated power of these turbines. These differences could affect on the AM characteristics such as AM depth and/or AM prevalence.

The indoor AM depth is higher than that outdoors, while the number of AM occurrences for the indoor case are fewer than those for the outdoor case. This could be due to indoor background noise masking the AM signals. The background noise in the 50 Hz 1/3-octave band was higher indoors, resulting in only clear AM events being detected, and thus a shift in the mean value and a lower AM occurrence.

I calculated the percentage of time that AM was present at each house. The results showed that tonal AM is audible both outdoors and indoors up to distances of 3.5 km from the nearest turbine in the wind farm. This is because the attenuation of low-frequency noise is lower than that of higher-frequency noise. This results in relatively large propagation distances for low-frequency tonal AM compared to mid-frequency swishing noise. In fact, AM can be detected up to 8.8 km from the wind farm by the algorithm, although it is inaudible for individuals with normal hearing.

AM is more likely to be detected when the wind turbines are operating below their maximum rated power. It is unclear if this is a source characteristic or if it is an environmental effect, as the background noise may also be higher due to wind noise at the receiver when the wind farm is operating at higher power capacities. This could result in non-detection of AM, even though it may be present. AM also occurs much more frequently during the night-time, which is due to favourable conditions such as low background noise levels and stable atmospheric conditions. Stable atmospheric conditions are characterised by high wind shear, which is suggested to be a major factor responsible for the AM of WFN [3]. Also, an atmospheric temperature inversion (increasing air temperature with increasing altitude) is found during the night-time, which makes WFN louder, especially in downwind conditions.

3.6 Summary

In this chapter, I demonstrated that modifications are necessary to improve the performance of the IOA method for detecting and quantifying low-frequency tonal AM. I showed that AM characteristics are different at different wind farms, although further analysis based on a larger data set is needed to support this finding. I also found that low-frequency tonal AM measured indoors occurs approximately 20% of the time up to a distance of 2.4 km. Despite the fact that the number of AM events are shown to reduce with distance, audible indoor AM still occurred for 16% of the time at a distance of 3.5 km. At distances of 7.6 and 8.8 km, audible AM was only detected on one occasion. At night-time, audible AM occurred indoors at residences located as far as 3.5 km from the wind farm for up to 22% of the time. These findings will serve as an invaluable reference to study possible sleep disruption and noise annoyance that is caused by wind farm AM.

Creativity is intelligence having fun

— Albert Einstein

Synthesis and evaluation of amplitude modulation stimuli

Contents

4.1 Intr	oduction
4.2 AM	synthesis methods
4.2.1	Background noise component
4.2.2	Amplitude modulation component
4.2.3	Synthesis results
4.3 Eva	luation of the perceptual quality of the stimuli
4.3.1	Participants
4.3.2	Testing room and instrumentation
4.3.3	Experimental design
4.3.4	Statistical analysis
4.3.5	ABX test results
4.3.6	Confidence and similarity rating results
4.4 Dise	cussion
4.5 Sun	mary

The content of this chapter has been submitted:

 Nguyen DP, Hansen K, Zajamsek B, Catcheside P. Evaluation of wind farm noise amplitude modulation synthesis quality. *Applied Acoustics* . 09/2019 (Q1) [Under review]

(The Statement of Contribution forms are provided in Appendix A)

4.1 Introduction

In laboratory listening experiments that study the effects of AM on annoyance and sleep disturbance, AM stimuli are commonly synthesised and can thus suffer from a lack of ecological validity. In this chapter, I evaluate the quality of synthesised amplitude modulation stimuli by comparing five stimuli synthesis methods with measured noise in terms of perceptual quality and spectral similarity. I used an ABX discrimination listening test [34] to evaluate the perceptual quality. I also used a one-third octave band spectra to evaluate the similarity between synthesised and measured noise spectrum. The results of this chapter are used in Chapter 5 where I will investigate the effects of AM on sleep acceptability.

4.2 AM synthesis methods

For the purpose of signal synthesis, tonal AM is assumed to be a combination of WFN without an amplitude modulated tone (hereafter referred to as background noise (BGN)) and an amplitude modulated tone (AT), as follows:

$$AM = \beta \times (AT + \alpha \times BGN) \tag{4.1}$$

where β is a constant for controlling the overall SPL and α is a constant for controlling the level of background noise.

4.2.1 Background noise component

Environmental background noise can be modelled by the power-law $(1/f^{\gamma})$ with a linear relationship between the log power spectral density and the log frequency [22]. The parameter γ can take values between 0 and 2 with characteristic values of 0, 1 and 2 for white, pink and brown noise, respectively. In the present study, BGN was represented using pink noise (Figure 4.1a (upper panel)) because this noise widely occurs in a variety of natural environments [23] and was previously used for synthesising WFN [21]. For example, Yokoyama et al. [7] used the power-law for synthesising BGN with a slope of -4 dB/octave (for comparison, pink noise has a slope of -3 dB/octave).



Figure 4.1: Method for synthesising AM stimuli. **a**, Two methods for synthesising BGN using pink-noise (upper panel) and real WFN (lower panel). **b**, Two methods for synthesising an AT component using sine wave (upper panel) and Gaussian pulse train (lower-panel). Modulated signals are multiplied with a 46 Hz tone to create an AT component, which is then added to a BGN to form the tonal AM.

The second method for synthesising BGN is based on measured WFN [6], as shown in Figure 4.1a (lower panel) and Appendix A, which provides the synthesis method details. According to this method, the real noise sample is transformed into the frequency domain after moving average filtering, providing the general noise spectrum. The general spectrum is then multiplied with the white noise spectrum and the product is transformed back into the time domain using the inverse fast Fourier transform (IFFT).

4.2.2 Amplitude modulation component

The AM part is synthesised using either a sine wave or a Gaussian pulse train, as shown in Figure 4.1b. The Gaussian pulse train appears to more accurately represent AM [9] by allowing control over the pulse shape and spacing between the pulses. This is important because the AM pulse can be asymmetrical, depending on the position of the receiver, and the spacing can vary due to propagation effects and changes in the blade rotational frequency. Conversely, while the sine wave does not allow for such detailed tuning, it allegedly provides a satisfactory approximation of the AM [9]. Both methods have been used in previous studies [9, 35].

4.2.3 Synthesis results

The final AM synthesised noise was created by combing the BGN and AT into five unique combinations, as outlined in Table 4.1 All synthesised samples had a 0.8 Hz modulation frequency, and a 46.5 Hz carrier centre frequency, as well as a modulation depth of 8 dB and a tonal audibility of 10 dB. However, to accurately represent the characteristics of measured wind farm AM, the amplitude of AT signals used in Method 4 and 5 was varied randomly so that the modulation depth was 8 ± 2 dB (value is mean \pm standard deviation). Also, the shape signals used in Method 5 were designed to have an asymmetric Gaussian shape, which is resemble the shape of the measured AT signals in the time-domain [36].

Method	AM	AM characteristics
1	BGN $1 + AT 1$	Constant amplitude, sine wave
2	BGN $2 + AT 1$	Constant amplitude, sine wave
3	BGN $2 + AT 2$	Constant amplitude, symmetric Gaussian wave
4	BGN $2 + AT 2$	Random amplitude, symmetric Gaussian wave
5	BGN $2 + AT 2$	Random amplitude, asymmetric Gaussian wave

Table 4.1: AM synthesis methods.

Comparisons in both the frequency and time domain between synthesised and measured noise are shown in Figure 4.2. The one-third octave band spectra from synthesised Method 1 contain some large differences when compared with the real measured AM spectra, while the agreement between Methods 2-5 and the real AM is good (Figure 4.2a). The difference between Method 1 and other Methods is also found in the time domain, as shown in Figure 4.2b.



Figure 4.2: Comparison between synthesised and measured noise. **a**, Comparison between the one-third octave band spectra. **b**, Comparison in the time domain. The gray shaded region shows the range of SPL between 45 and 55 dBA.

4.3 Evaluation of the perceptual quality of the stimuli

4.3.1 Participants

Following approval from the Social and Behavioural Research Ethics Committee (SBREC) at Flinders University under project number 7536, 10 participants (5 males) aged from 21 to 50 years old were recruited for the listening test. Eight participants (five acoustic engineers and three psychologists) were familiar with WFN. All participants had normal self-reported hearing.

4.3.2 Testing room and instrumentation

The listening test was conducted in a bedroom at the Adelaide Institute for Sleep Health (AISH), Flinders University, where the daytime background noise level is below 21 dBA. The noise reproduction system consisted of an RME Babyface Pro sound card, Lab Gruppen C 16:4 power amplifier and Krix Harmonix MK2 loudspeaker. The SPL at the participants' ears was 50 dBA, and noise samples were smoothly ramped up and down using a 0.5 s raised-cosine function. The

loudspeaker was positioned in front of the participants, and its centre was aligned with the participant's ear level (Figure 4.3b). The listening test was delivered via a MATLAB GUI on a tablet PC with touch control. Figure 4.3a compares the room background noise spectrum and the real WFN-AM spectrum on which the synthesis of BGN 2 is based. The detailed view shows the tonal peak at approximately 46.5 Hz with sideband peaks spaced at the blade pass frequency, which are characteristic features of an AM tone.

a Full noise spectrum



Room size:50m x30m x25m

Figure 4.3: Stimuli and experimental design. **a**, The spectrum of measured WFN and background noise. The dashed line window shows a magnified view of the spectrum between 40 and 50 Hz, which the 46.5 Hz tonal AM occurs. **b** Listening test set-up.

4.3.3 Experimental design

An ABX listening test 34 was used to evaluate the perceptual difference between the synthesised and the real AM noise samples. In this test, the participants listened to a pair of noise samples, A and B, in which one was real and one was synthesised. Whichever was real was determined randomly. After hearing noise sample pair A and B, the participants were presented with noise sample X, which was either A or B, and for which the participant had to decide whether X was A or B. Apart from the ABX task, the participants were also asked to rate '*How confident are you about your choice?*' and '*How likely it is that sound A and B belong to the same recording?*' on an 11-point discrete scale from 0 (not at all) to 10 (extremely). The extreme alternatives were labelled as "*Not at all*" and "*Extremely*". Each of the five noise sample pairs were played 10 times, including five presentations of X=A and the other half with X=B. Altogether, each participant was presented with 50 noise pairs, and the test took approximately 20 minutes.

4.3.4 Statistical analysis

All statistical analysis including the one-tailed binomial exact test, one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey pairwise comparisons were performed using R http://www.r-project.org/. The significance threshold used was p = 0.05.

4.3.5 ABX test results

An exemplary ABX test response matrix using signal detection theory [34], [37] for one noise pair is shown in Table 4.2] In the response matrix, correctly recognising "X matches A" is termed a Hit and failing to recognise it is termed a Miss. Mistakenly recognising "X = A" as "X = B" is a False alarm and responding "B" to "X =B" is a Correct rejection. The number of correct answers is the sum of the hits and correct rejections. For example, the response matrix provided in Table 4.2 has five correct answers. From the response matrix, a hit rate (HR), $HR = \frac{Hit}{Hit+Miss}$, a false alarm rate (FAR), $FAR = \frac{False \ alarm}{False \ alarm+Correct \ rejection}$, and a sensitivity measure d' = z(HR) - z(FAR), where z stands for z-transform, are calculated.

Table 4.2: A typical ADA test response matrix.								
Sample sequence	Response, $X =$							
	А	В						
X=A	Hit (2)	Miss (3)						
X=B	False alarm (2)	Correct rejection (3)						

1 ADV +

The results of the ABX tests are shown in Figure 4.4a, in which listeners had to distinguish between real and synthesised noise with 50% probability of correct identification by chance. Only samples from method 1 could be distinguished (p =(0.01), while samples from other methods were indistinguishable (Figure 4.4b).



Figure 4.4: ABX test results (n=10) for all five methods. a, Number of correct answers out of 10. b, Probability of success with one-tailed binomial exact test results where 'N.s' stands for non-significance and error bars indicate 95% CI.

Though valid, a binomial test for testing the null hypothesis of ABX results is not optimal due to the small sample size for which signal detection theory (SDT) is more suitable [37]. SDT uses the sensitivity measure, d', to quantify the level of difference between stimuli. The value d' lies between 0, which indicates no difference and 4.65, which is an effective ceiling that indicates a maximal difference between stimuli [34]. It is suggested that a d' larger than 2.5 represents a clearly perceivable difference, whereas a d' of 1 is considered a threshold value below which a participant cannot distinguish between the two types of noise 38. The results in Figure 4.5b show that only samples synthesised using method 1 were clearly different to the real samples (d' > 2.5). This is consistent with the results using a binomial test. Furthermore, samples from methods 2 and 5 were the most difficult to separate, with a d' of 0 (Figure 4.5)b. Methods 3 and 4 are somehow ambiguous and without clear differences between the real and synthesised samples.



Figure 4.5: Signal detection theory results. **a**, Hit rates (HR) and false alarm rates (FAR) according to signal detection theory (SDT). **b**, Sensitivity measure, d', according to SDT.

4.3.6 Confidence and similarity rating results

The participants were very confident in distinguishing between the real and synthesised noise from method 1, as reflected by the high confidence ratings (Figure 4.6a). There was a significant difference between confidence ratings for the various methods (ANOVA, p = 0.018). Although a clear pairwise trend is apparent in Figure 4.6c, with large differences between method 1 and the other methods, only pairs 2-1 and 4-1 were significant. Similar trends were apparent for the similarity rating in Figure 4.6d, with a significant difference between the methods (ANOVA, p < 0.005), in which method 1 was clearly different to all the others.



Figure 4.6: a, Similarity. b, Confidence rating results. c, Tukey HSD paired comparison test for confidence. d, Tukey HSD paired comparison test for similarity rating results, with error bars indicating 95% CI.

4.4 Discussion

Based on perceptual evaluation and visual inspection tests, I found that synthesised noise provides adequate ecological validity. This suggests that using synthesised stimuli for laboratory experiments is valid and suitable. To the best of my knowledge, this is the first time the quality of synthesised wind farm noise AM has been tested.

I found that the BGN has a significant effect on how the participants perceive the noise. For example, while stimuli synthesised using Method 1 (pink-noise) are clearly different to the measured noise, stimuli synthesised using Method 2 (real WFN) are similar to the measured noise. However, in contrast to the use of BGN, increasing the level of complexity in synthesising AT signals did not improve the quality of the stimuli as shown through the comparison between Methods 2 to 5. This reveals an important conclusion that the noise spectrum is as equally important as the unique characteristics of the noise (i.e., infrasound, tonality and AM).

To my surprise, using a sine wave for synthesising AT signals has equally good quality as using an asymmetric Gaussian wave that is expected to accurately represent the characteristics of the real noise. A possible explanation is that the difference between using a sine wave and asymmetric Gaussian wave is not substantial enough to make a difference in the perception.

4.5 Summary

In this study, I implemented five methods for synthesising AM, and these synthesised stimuli then were evaluated using an ABX listening test. I found that using background noise based on measured AM is important in producing ecologically valid synthesised AM. Also, I demonstrate that simple synthesis methods are sufficient for good synthesis. Some synthesised AM stimuli were found indistinguishable from measured AM samples by the participants, which shows that synthesised noise can provide adequate ecological validity, along with complete control over the signal parameters, thus making it ideal for laboratory experiments. No great discovery was ever made without a bold guess.

— Isaac Newton

5 Effects of amplitude modulated noise on the acceptable noise level for sleep

Contents

5.1 Introduction	42
5.2 Material and methods	42
5.2.1 Participants	42
5.2.2 Testing room, instrumentation and stimuli	42
5.2.3 Experimental procedure	43
5.3 Results	44
5.3.1 Adjustment time for tonal AM acceptability for sleep .	44
5.3.2 Noise sensitivity score	45
5.3.3 Sleep acceptability of tonal AM	46
$5.4 \text{Discussion} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	47
5.5 Summary	48

Part of the research contained in this chapter has been published as:

- Nguyen DP, Hansen K, Zajamsek B. Wind farm infrasound detectability and its effects on the perception of wind farm noise amplitude modulation. In Proceedings of ACOUSTICS 2019 Nov 9. [Accepted]
- Hansen K, Nguyen DP, Zajamsek B, Micic G, Catcheside P. Pilot study on perceived sleep acceptability of low-frequency, amplitude modulated tonal noise. 23rd International Congress on Acoustics, Aachen, Germany, 2019

5. Effects of amplitude modulated noise on the acceptable noise level for sleep 42

September 8-13. http://pub.dega-akustik.de/ICA2019/data/articles/ 000499.pdf [Published]

(The Statement of Contribution forms are provided in Appendix A)

5.1 Introduction

This chapter investigates the perceived sleep acceptability of WFN containing low-frequency tonal AM through listening tests. The global expansion of wind farm facilities has been associated with community complaints regarding sleep disturbance. This may be related to the presence of AM, which has been shown to result in increased annoyance. However, it is presently unknown whether acceptability for sleep is judged differently to annoyance, or if AM may be more problematic for sleep than other noise types. Previous studies have also focused predominantly on swishing noise rather than on low-frequency tonal AM, where the latter has been more consistently measured at several wind farms in South Australia at distances greater than 1 km.

5.2 Material and methods

5.2.1 Participants

A total of 13 participants aged between 21 and 46, took part in the listening tests. The participants were employees and students at AISH, none of whom have lived near a wind farm. This study was approved by the Flinders University Social and Behavioural Research Ethics Committee (SBREC project 7536). All participants provided voluntary informed written consent.

5.2.2 Testing room, instrumentation and stimuli

Experiments were conducted in a bedroom located in the AISH Nick Antic Sleep Laboratory. The background SPL of the room was 21 dB(A). Participants were instructed to lie flat on a bed and to relax while they were presented with a total of 13 stimuli. The stimuli were five-minutes long and were played via Bose Quiet

Comfort II headphones. Headphones were used to enable a faithful reproduction of the signals and to minimise ventilation noise contamination at low frequencies. The noise signals were created with MATLAB and reproduced via an RME Babyface Pro sound card, which has a flat frequency response within 0.5 dB, from 0 Hz to 20.8 kHz. The headphones were calibrated using the HEAD acoustics HMS III artificial head and the frequency content was adjusted to match the original signal.

5.2.3 Experimental procedure

The listening test was designed using pre-recorded audio instructions and an interstimulus alarm that was kept constant for each participant to minimise possible biases. A representation of the test procedure is provided in Figure 5.1a. The noise samples were presented in random order to account for systematic error associated with carry over effects and sensitisation/de-sensitisation to noise. Each participant underwent a practice test to ensure familiarity with the testing procedures and requirements. The experimenter remained in the room for this phase of the test to answer any questions from participants.

Participants were instructed to lie on a bed and relax for the duration of the test. Lights were turned down to less than 1 lux when the experimenter exited the bedroom and the experimental trial formally commenced. Participants wore Bose Quiet Comfort II headphones and the Active Noise Control (ANC) feature was switched on to minimise background noise contamination. They were provided with a physical volume control knob that was used to adjust the SPL of noise to the maximum level the participant considered acceptable for sleep. The test arrangement is depicted in Figure 5.1b. Visual volume cues were not displayed on the control knob, thus adjustment relied solely on auditory input from the headphones.

A total of 13 noise samples were presented at various combinations of tonal audibility and AM depth for the 50 Hz tone under investigation, as shown in Figure 5.1c, with sample s0 representing the baseline. The total test time was approximately 70 minutes, including instructions.

5. Effects of amplitude modulated noise on the acceptable noise level for sleep 44

For each participant, the noise presentation began at a relatively high level of 50 dB(A), with the intention that the majority of participants would wish to reduce the SPL for sleep acceptability. The SPL adjustment was recorded using the sound card software, which provides a loopback function. This allowed real-time signal information to be sent to MATLAB for later post-processing. Participants could adjust the SPL between a minimum of no noise signal and a maximum SPL of 70 dB(A).



Figure 5.1: Experimental set-up.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Adjustment time for tonal AM acceptability for sleep

Adjustment time is the period starting from when the sound started playing until a participant's final adjustment. To find the adjustment time for a participant, the SPL adjustment is plotted against time, as shown in Figure 5.2a. The time at which the adjustment was less than 1 dB over five seconds was considered as the final adjustment. One dB is considered as a typical fluctuation of the room background noise rather than the adjustment. The adjustment time was calculated for each sample and each participant. In total, 169 adjustment times (13 samples x 13 participants) were recorded to construct the probability density function (PDF) as shown in Figure 5.2b. I found that most participants needed less than 60 seconds to find their acceptable level of noise for sleep while, some participants still needed up to 280 seconds. Therefore, to find a reasonable adjustment time which could satisfy the majority of participants, I constructed a cumulative distribution function (CDF) (Figure 5.2b). I found that a sample length of 210 seconds could satisfy 95% of the participants. However, closer inspection of the plot indicated that as the slope of the CDF is small, the sample length could be reduced to 180 seconds and participants would still be satisfied for 94% of the time. Therefore, I propose that an adjustment time of 180 seconds is reasonable for future listening tests involving similar noise samples.



Figure 5.2: Adjustment time for tonal AM acceptability for sleep. **a**, Mean and standard deviation of the sound pressure level (SPL) adjustment as a function of time. **b**, Probability density function (PDF) and cumulative distribution function (CDF) of the time taken for the final adjustment of all samples/participants. The black dot represents the adjustment time that would be satisfactory for 95% of time.

5.3.2 Noise sensitivity score

Noise-sensitivity scores were calculated based on the 21-item Weinstein Noise-Sensitivity Scale [39]. The sensitivity scores of 13 participants are shown in Figure 5.3a, in which a higher score denotes higher sensitivity to noise. The sensitivity scores are followed a normal distribution based on visual inspection using Q-Q plot. To separate the participants into two groups (i.e., insensitive and sensitive group), I calculated the group mean noise-sensitivity score, which is 61 ± 17 (values are mean \pm s.d. throughout). Participants who scored higher

than 61 points were considered noise sensitive participants and participants scoring lower were considered noise insensitive. In addition, to examine whether the noise sensitivity score affects the final SPL adjustment, I found that this relationship was strong ($R^2 = 0.44$, p = 0.008), as shown in Figure 5.3b.



Figure 5.3: Noise sensitivity score. **a**, Noise sensitivity scores and the associated normal distribution and classification of noise-sensitive and insensitive groups. **b**, Relationship between overall acceptable SPL for sleep and the noise-sensitivity score. A linear regression fit is shown using the solid black line and the 95% CI indicated by the gray shaded region.

5.3.3 Sleep acceptability of tonal AM

The relationship between tonal audibility, AM depth and SPL difference is shown in Figure 5.4. The y-axis values represent the difference between the final SPL adjustment for the baseline noise sample and the samples with tonal AM. A negative value indicates that a penalty may be necessary to ensure that WFN is acceptable for sleep. The noise non-sensitive group were not affected by tonal AM whereby their acceptable levels for sleep were similar for all samples, as shown in Figure 5.4.



Figure 5.4: Final SPL adjustment relative to the baseline for noise-insensitive participants, n=8.

However, in contrast to the non-sensitive group, a clear trend between tonal audibility and AM depth was evident for the case, in which the tonal audibility was 12 dB(A) and participants were classified as noise-sensitive, as shown in Figure 5.5. The results are consistent with previous studies showing an increased annoyance with increased AM depth [6], [8], [10], [24]. This finding is applicable to about 40% of the sample and suggests that a penalty of up to 5 dB(A) may be required, depending on the AM depth.



Figure 5.5: Final SPL adjustment relative to the baseline for noise-sensitive participants, n=5.

5.4 Discussion

I found that the 50 Hz tone had minimal impact on sleep acceptability for all values of tonal audibility in the absence of AM. This finding is consistent to the work of Oliva

et al [40], who showed that no penalty is be required for low-frequency tonal noise at 50 Hz with tonal audibility between 5 and 25 dB(A). In fact, these researchers found a statistically significant negative penalty value for a tonal frequency of 50 Hz and tonal audibility of 18 dB(A), when the overall LAeq was 25 dB(A). This suggests a reduction in annoyance at low SPLs in the presence of a low-frequency 50 Hz tone.

In this study, I found that some participants found WFN more acceptable for sleep when a 50 Hz tone was present, even when it was amplitude modulated. However, this may be related to the choice of baseline noise sample on which the spectrum shape was based on measured WFN. Perhaps a better choice of baseline noise sample would be one that is based on a room criteria (RC) spectrum shape, which is less objectionable [41].

5.5 Summary

I demonstrated that the perceived acceptable level of WFN for sleep varies between individuals and is inversely proportional with self-declared noise sensitivity. Although studies on larger sample sizes are needed, my results showed that noisesensitive individuals judged WFN containing tonal AM to be less acceptable for sleep when the tonal audibility was 12 dB(A). For the worst-case noise stimulus, which contained a 50 Hz tone with tonal audibility of 12 dB(A) and an AM depth of 12 dB(A), a penalty in the order of 5 dB(A) may be required. I also found that a stimulus time of three minutes may be a conservative choice for future experiments, given that this satisfied the study sample for 94% of the time. Research is a road on which one may take many wrong turns before a productive direction is found.

- Nature Methods-Should scientists tell stories?

6 Conclusions and recommendations for future work

For this Master's project, I successfully characterised the AM of wind farm noise measured at several locations in South Australian wind farms. To analyse data measured at large distances from the wind farms, I proposed a modified version of the IOA algorithm which showed better performance than the original IOA algorithm on our data. Also, to prepare AM stimuli for the laboratory experiments, I evaluated the quality of synthesised stimuli based on both visual and perceptual tests. Finally, I tested the effects of AM on acceptable noise levels for sleep based on a pilot study conducted internally. These results improved our understanding of wind farm noise AM and its acceptability for sleep.

I found that AM characteristics are different between wind farms. The results also showed that low frequency tonal AM is audible both outdoors and indoors, up to distances of 3.5 km from the nearest turbine in the wind farm. The modified algorithm can detect AM up to 8.8 km from the wind farm, although it is inaudible for a person with normal hearing. My data showed that AM is more likely to be detected when the wind turbines are operating below their maximum rated power. Also, AM occurs much more frequently during the night-time due to favourable conditions such as low background noise levels and a stable atmosphere. I found that synthesised noise stimuli can have ecological validity and are suitable for laboratory experiments. Interestingly, although some synthesis methods are relatively simple and required relatively few input parameters, they were indistinguishable from measured AM samples.

Participants responses were highly variable, but in self-reported noise-sensitive individuals, an increase in the AM depth at a tonal audibility of 12 dB was associated with a lower acceptability for sleep. I also found that a stimulus time of three minutes is a good conservative choice for future experiments to ensure that participants are given adequate time to judge acceptability for sleep.

Further research is needed to determine the prevalence of AM on an annual basis. Specifically, the noise data should be measured for at least one year, so that the seasonal and diurnal characteristics of AM can be captured. Further work is also needed to quantify the annoyance and sleep disturbance potential of low frequency tonal AM, particularly with larger sample sizes containing noise-sensitive individuals who have experienced living wind farm noise. This will provide further insight into the relationship between noise sensitivity and WFN disturbance potential as well as shedding light on possible sensitisation to WFN. Appendices

Publication 1:

Nguyen, D.P., Hansen, K. and Zajamsek, B., 2019. Human perception of wind farm vibration. Journal of Low Frequency Noise, Vibration and Active Control, p.1461348419837115. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1461348419837115

Contribution of Each Author:

PN analysed data and wrote the initial manuscript with support from KH and BZ. KH and BZ carried out the experiment, collected data and contributed final manuscript. KH and BZ provided critical feedback and helped shape the research, analysis and manuscript. All authors discussed the results and contributed to the final manuscript.

Publication 2:

Hansen, K.L., Nguyen, P., Zajamšek, B., Catcheside, P. and Hansen, C.H., 2019. Prevalence of wind farm amplitude modulation at long-range residential locations. Journal of Sound and Vibration, 455, pp.136-149.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsv.2019.05.008

Contribution of Each Author:

KH devised the project, the main conceptual ideas, proof outline and wrote the manuscript.

PN analysed the data and shared conceptual ideas and contributed to initial and final manuscript. KH and BZ designed and collected data. PC and CH contribute to final manuscript.

All authors discussed the results and contributed to the final manuscript.

Publication 3:

Nguyen, D.P., Hansen, K. and Zajamsek, B., 2018, November, Characterizing tonal amplitude modulation of wind farm noise. In Proceedings of ACOUSTICS (Vol. 7, No. 9).

https://www.acoustics.asn.au/conference proceedings/AAS2018/papers/p101.pdf

Contribution of Each Author:

PN analysed the data and wrote the initial manuscript.

KH and BZ collected data and provided critical feedback and helped shape the research. All authors contributed to the final manuscript.

Publication 4:

Hansen, K., **Nguyen, D.P.,** Zajamsek, B., Micic G., and Catcheside P., 2019. Pilot study on sleep acceptability of low-frequency, amplitude modulated tonal noise. In *Proceedings of the 23rd International Congress on Acoustics 9-13 September 2019 in Aachen, Germany.*

Contribution of Each Author:

KH contributed the main conceptual ideas and wrote the manuscript.

PN collected and analysed the data, designed the experiment and contributed to main conceptual idea.

BZ, GM and PC provided critical feedback and helped shape the research.

All authors contributed to the final manuscript.

Publication 5:

Nguyen, D.P, Hansen, K., Zajamsek, B., Micic G., and Catcheside P., 2019, November. Wind farm infrasound detectability and its effects on the perception of wind farm noise amplitude modulation. In *Proceedings of Acoustics 2019 Melbourne, Australia.*

Contribution of Each Author:

PN designed the experiment, collected and analysed data and wrote the manuscript.

PN, BZ and KH contributed the conceptual ideas.

BZ, GM and PC provided critical feedback and helped shape the research.

All authors contributed to the final manuscript.

References

- [1] Colin H Hansen, Con J Doolan, and Kristy L Hansen. Wind farm noise: measurement, assessment, and control. John Wiley & Sons, 2017.
- [2] J Bass et al. "Amplitude Modulation Working Group Final Report: A method for rating amplitude modulation in wind turbine noise". In: *Institute of Acoustics* (2016).
- [3] GP Van den Berg. "The beat is getting stronger: The effect of atmospheric stability on low frequency modulated sound of wind turbines". In: Journal of Low Frequency Noise, Vibration and Active Control 24.1 (2005), pp. 1–23.
- [4] Dick Bowdler. "Amplitude modulation of wind turbine noise: a review of the evidence". In: *Institute of Acoustics Bulletin* 33.4 (2008), pp. 31–41.
- [5] Beat Schäffer et al. "Effects of different spectral shapes and amplitude modulation of broadband noise on annoyance reactions in a controlled listening experiment". In: International journal of environmental research and public health 15.5 (2018), p. 1029.
- [6] Seunghoon Lee et al. "Annoyance caused by amplitude modulation of wind turbine noise". In: *Noise Control Engineering Journal* 59.1 (2011), pp. 38–46.
- Sakae Yokoyama, Shinichi Sakamoto, and Hideki Tachibana. "Study on the amplitude modulation of wind turbine noise: part 2-Auditory experiments". In: *INTER-NOISE and NOISE-CON Congress and Conference Proceedings*. Vol. 247.
 Institute of Noise Control Engineering. 2013, pp. 3136–3145.
- [8] Christina Ioannidou, Sébastien Santurette, and Cheol-Ho Jeong. "Effect of modulation depth, frequency, and intermittence on wind turbine noise annoyance". In: *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 139.3 (2016), pp. 1241–1251.
- [9] Sabine Von Hünerbein et al. "Wind turbine amplitude modulation: research to improve understanding as to its cause & effect". In: Work package B (2): development of an AM dose-response relationship. RenewableUK (2013).
- [10] Beat Schäffer et al. "Short-term annoyance reactions to stationary and time-varying wind turbine and road traffic noise: A laboratory study". In: The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 139.5 (2016), pp. 2949–2963.
- [11] Gorica Micic et al. "A review of the potential impacts of wind farm noise on sleep". In: Acoustics Australia 46.1 (2018), pp. 87–97.
- [12] Akinori Fukushima et al. "Study on the amplitude modulation of wind turbine noise: Part 1–Physical investigation". In: *Proc. Inter-noise*. Vol. 2013. 2013.
- [13] J Bass. "Investigation of the 'Den Brook' amplitude modulation methodology for wind turbine noise". In: *Acoustics Bulletin* 36.6 (2011), pp. 18–24.

- [14] G Lundmark. "Measurement of swish noise, a new method". In: Fourth International Meeting of Wind Turbine Noise, INCE/Europe, Rome, Italy. 2011.
- [15] J McCabe. "Detection and quantification of amplitude modulation in wind turbine noise". In: Fourth International Meeting on Wind Turbine Noise. 2011.
- [16] Jonathan Cooper and Tom Evans. "Automated detection and analysis of amplitude modulation at a residence and wind turbine". In: Acoustics2013. Australian Acoustical Society. Victor Harbor, Australia (2013).
- [17] Kristy L Hansen, Branko Zajamšek, and Colin H Hansen. "Quantifying the character of wind farm noise". In: *ICSV22. Florence* (2015).
- [18] Conny Larsson and Olof Öhlund. "Amplitude modulation of sound from wind turbines under various meteorological conditions". In: *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 135.1 (2014), pp. 67–73.
- [19] Thileepan Paulraj and Petri Välisuo. "Effect of wind speed and wind direction on amplitude modulation of wind turbine noise". In: *INTER-NOISE and NOISE-CON Congress and Conference Proceedings*. Vol. 255. 2. Institute of Noise Control Engineering. 2017, pp. 5479–5489.
- [20] Kristina Conrady. "Wind Turbine Sound in Cold Climates". PhD thesis. Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis, 2019.
- [21] Pontus Thorsson et al. "Creating sound immission mimicking real-life characteristics from a single wind turbine". In: *Applied Acoustics* 143 (2019), pp. 66–73.
- [22] John M Halley and William E Kunin. "Extinction risk and the 1/f family of noise models". In: *Theoretical Population Biology* 56.3 (1999), pp. 215–230.
- [23] David L Gilden, Thomas Thornton, and Mark W Mallon. "1/f noise in human cognition". In: Science 267.5205 (1995), pp. 1837–1839.
- [24] Sakae Yokoyama, Shinichi Sakamoto, and Hideki Tachibana. "Perception of low frequency components in wind turbine noise". In: *Noise Control Engineering Journal* 62.5 (2014), pp. 295–305.
- [25] Kerstin Persson Waye et al. "Low frequency noise pollution interferes with performance". In: *Noise and health* 4.13 (2001), p. 33.
- [26] Kerstin Persson Waye et al. "Effects of nighttime low frequency noise on the cortisol response to awakening and subjective sleep quality". In: *Life sciences* 72.8 (2003), pp. 863–875.
- [27] Evy Öhrström et al. "Effects of road traffic noise and the benefit of access to quietness". In: Journal of sound and vibration 295.1-2 (2006), pp. 40–59.
- [28] Sibylle Pennig et al. "Annoyance and self-reported sleep disturbance due to night-time railway noise examined in the field". In: *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 132.5 (2012), pp. 3109–3117.
- [29] Australian Energy Market Operator. Wind Farm Power Output Data. 2015. URL: http://nemweb.com.au/Reports/Archive/Dispatch_SCADA/ (visited on 2015).
- [30] International Electrotechnical Commission et al. "IEC 61400-11 Wind Turbine Generator Systems Part 11: Acoustic Noise Measurement Techniques". In: Geneva, Switzerland: International Electrotechnical Commission (2012).

- [31] ISO 389-7. "Acoustics Reference zero for the calibration of audiometric equipment Part 7: Reference threshold of hearing under free-field and diffuse-field listening conditions". In: *Geneva: International Organization for Standardization* (2005).
- [32] Tom Fawcett. "An introduction to ROC analysis". In: Pattern recognition letters 27.8 (2006), pp. 861–874.
- [33] Jake Lever, Martin Krzywinski, and Naomi Altman. "Points of significance: classification evaluation". In: *Nature Methods* (2016).
- [34] Neil A Macmillan and C Douglas Creelman. Detection theory: A user's guide. Psychology press, 2004.
- [35] Eberhard Zwicker and Hugo Fastl. *Psychoacoustics: Facts and models.* Vol. 22. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [36] Kristy Hansen, Branko Zajamsek, and Colin Hansen. "Analysis of unweighted low frequency noise and infrasound measured at a residence in the vicinity of a wind farm". In: Australian Acoustical Society, Proceedings of Acoustics (2013).
- [37] Jon Boley and Michael Lester. "Statistical analysis of ABX results using signal detection theory". In: Audio Engineering Society Convention 127. Audio Engineering Society. 2009.
- [38] Harry T Lawless and Hildegarde Heymann. Sensory evaluation of food: principles and practices. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [39] Neil D Weinstein. "Individual differences in reactions to noise: a longitudinal study in a college dormitory." In: *Journal of Applied Psychology* 63.4 (1978), p. 458.
- [40] David Oliva, Valtteri Hongisto, and Annu Haapakangas. "Annoyance of low-level tonal sounds–Factors affecting the penalty". In: *Building and Environment* 123 (2017), pp. 404–414.
- [41] David A Bies, Colin Hansen, and Carl Howard. Engineering noise control. CRC press, 2017.